# RECEIVED

## STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-02-2018

## COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2017AP1345

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

## Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL J. SCOTT, LORI M. SCOTT, ALLY FINANCIAL, INC. a/k/a C T CORPORATION SYSTEM, A BLACK 1966 OLDSMOBILE AUTOMOBILE VIN #338676M362750, A BROWN 2015 CHEVROLET SILVERADO VIN #1GC1KWE81FF631314. A 2008 POLARIS RANGER SERIAL #4XARB50A482701431, A 2008 SEA DOO "JET SKI" HULL #YDV13580E808, A 2008 SEA DOO "JET SKI" HULL #YDV24947C808, APPROXIMATELY 55 LBS. OF TETRAHYDROCANNABINOLS (THC) AND \$22,955.00 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY,

Defendants-Respondents.

ISSUES PRESENTED
STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW
ARGUMENT
I. The exclusionary rule does not apply to civil forfeiture proceedings brought pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.55 and 961.555, and the circuit court erred when it applied the exclusionary rule to exclude evidence in this case
A. The exclusionary rule is generally inapplicable to civil proceedings and limited to criminal trials
B. Analysis11
II. If the exclusionary rule applies in this case, the good-faith exception to the rule applies as well, and the circuit court erred by not granting the State's request for an evidentiary hearing on the good- faith issue
A. Legal principles 14
B. Analysis16
CONCLUSION

Page

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## Cases

.

.

Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229 (2011)
Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206 (1960)
Hoyer v. State, 180 Wis. 407, 193 N.W. 89 (1923)
In re 650 Fifth Ave. & Related Props., 830 F. 3d 66 (2d Cir. 2016)7, 16
I.N.S. v. Lopez-Mendoza, 468 U.S. 1032 (1984)
Lo-Ji Sales, Inc. v. New York, 442 U.S. 319 (1979)
One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Pennsylvania, 380 U.S. 693 (1965)2, 3, 7, 10
Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Parole v. Scott, 524 U.S. 357 (1998)
People v. Defore, 150 N.E. 585 (N.Y. 1926)5
Schmidt v. N. States Power Co., 2007 WI 136, 305 Wis. 2d 538, 742 N.W.2d 2943
State ex rel. White v. Simpson, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 137 N.W.2d 391 (1965)9
State v. Canada, 164 So.3d 1003 (Miss. 2015)16
State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625 3, 15, 16
State v. Guarnero, 2015 WI 72, 363 Wis. 2d 857, 867 N.W.2d 40011

State v. Marquardt, 2001 WI App 219, 247 Wis. 2d 765, 635 N.W.2d 188
State v. One 2004 Lincoln Navigator, 494 S.W.3d 690 (Tex. 2016)
State v. Voshart, 39 Wis. 2d 419, 159 N.W.2d 1 (1968)10
Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465 (1976)5
United States v. \$92,422.57, 307 F.3d 137 (3d Cir. 2002)16
United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338 (1974)
United States v. Janis, 428 U.S. 433 (1976)
United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984)
United States v. Marrocco, 578 F.3d 627 (7th Cir. 2009)
United States v. One Parcel of Land Commonly Known as 4204 Cedarwood, 671 F. Supp. 544 (N.D. Ill. 1987)
United States v. Real Prop. Located at 15324 Cty. Hwy. E, 301 F. Supp. 2d 868 (W.D. Wis. 2002)16
<b>Constitutional Provisions</b>
Wis. Const. art. I, § 1115
Statutes
Wis. Stat. § 961.55 2, passim
Wis. Stat. § 961.55(1)(c). (d)

## Page

Wis. Stat. § 961.55(f), (g)	
Wis. Stat. § 961.555	2, passim
Wis. Stat. § 961.555(2)(a), (b)	
Wis. Stat. § 961.555(3)	
Wis. Stat. § 973.075	
Wis. Stat. § 973.076	
Wis. Stat. § 973.076(2m)	

## **Other Authorities**

Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Art. 59.01(2)(B)	12	2
--	----	---

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Does the exclusionary rule apply to civil forfeiture proceedings brought pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.55 and 961.555? If not, did the circuit court err when it applied the exclusionary rule to exclude evidence in this case?

The circuit court concluded that the exclusionary rule applies to these civil forfeiture proceedings. Accordingly, it excluded evidence seized pursuant to inadequate warrants.

The State asks this Court to reverse the decision of the circuit court because its application of the exclusionary rule to these civil forfeiture proceedings was erroneous.

2. If the exclusionary rule applies to these civil forfeiture proceedings, does the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule also apply? If so, did the circuit court err when it denied the State's request for an evidentiary hearing on the good-faith issue?

The circuit court denied the State's request for an evidentiary hearing.

The State asks this Court to reverse the circuit court's decision and remand for an evidentiary hearing on the good-faith issue.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is unnecessary because the issues presented are fully briefed and can be resolved on the basis of the parties' written arguments. Publication is warranted because the constitutional questions about whether the exclusionary rule and the good-faith exception to that rule apply in civil forfeiture proceedings have not been addressed in a published opinion of this Court or the Wisconsin Supreme Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 20, 2016, pursuant to a warrant, the State Line Area Narcotics Team conducted a search at the home of Michael and Lori Scott in the Town of Jordan in Green County. (R. 1:4–6.) The Team seized controlled substances (approximately 55 pounds of tetrahydrocannabinols) and drug paraphernalia. (R. 1:6.) They also seized several vehicles and nearly \$23,000 in cash. (R. 1:5–6.)

The State charged the Scotts with felony possession with intent to deliver tetrahydrocannabinols; felony maintaining a drug trafficking place; and misdemeanor possession of drug paraphernalia. Michael Scott was also charged with felony manufacture/delivery of tetrahydrocannabinols.

The Scotts moved to suppress all the evidence seized. (R. 19:35.) The circuit court granted the suppression motion on the ground that the warrants authorizing the search were inadequate. (R. 19:58–61.) The State dismissed the prosecution. The State did not appeal the circuit court's suppression decision in the criminal case.

Meanwhile, the State had timely filed a civil forfeiture complaint against Michael Scott; Lori Scott; the seized vehicles; the seized marijuana and drug paraphernalia; and the seized cash. (R. 1.) The State sought forfeiture pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.55 and 961.555, which create a process for civil forfeiture of property used in violation of the Controlled Substances Act.

The Scotts moved for partial summary judgment on the civil forfeiture complaint. (R. 15.) Their principal argument was that the exclusionary rule applies to civil forfeiture proceedings pursuant to *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Pennsylvania*, 380 U.S. 693 (1965), and that the evidence excluded in their criminal cases must also be excluded from the civil case. (R. 18:9.) The State argued in response that

*Plymouth Sedan* was not controlling for various reasons. (R. 22:1–2.) The State also argued that it was entitled to an evidentiary "*Eason* hearing"<sup>1</sup> in which it could prove that the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule operated in this case to render the evidence admissible. (R. 22:11–13; 45:17, 21, P-A. App. 118, 122.)

The circuit court granted the Scotts' motion for summary judgment. (R. 31, P-A App. 101.) The court concluded it was bound by the *Plymouth Sedan* decision. (R. 45:29, P-A App. 130.) The court did not grant the State an *Eason* hearing, but stated that the warrants "weren't saved by a good faith exception," even though it did not "think there [was] any intentional misconduct by the police." (R. 45:28, P-A App. 129.)

The State appealed. The case was fully briefed by defense counsel and the district attorney. Subsequently, at this Court's invitation, the Department of Justice agreed to file replacement briefs on behalf of the State.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The circuit court's summary judgment decision is reviewed by this Court de novo. See, e.g., Schmidt v. N. States Power Co., 2007 WI 136, ¶ 24, 305 Wis. 2d 538, 742 N.W.2d 294.

The circuit court's application of constitutional principles to a factual situation is also reviewed de novo by this Court. See Eason, 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶ 95.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pursuant to *State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625.

#### ARGUMENT

- I. The exclusionary rule does not apply to civil forfeiture proceedings brought pursuant to Wis. Stat. §§ 961.55 and 961.555, and the circuit court erred when it applied the exclusionary rule to exclude evidence in this case.
  - A. The exclusionary rule is generally inapplicable to civil proceedings and limited to criminal trials.

The exclusionary rule prevents the State's use of evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment during the prosecution's case-in-chief. See United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 907 (1984); Hoyer v. State, 180 Wis. 407, 415, 193 N.W. 89 (1923).

This rule of exclusion is not a constitutional right and is not mandated by the United States or the Wisconsin Constitution. It is "a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights generally through its deterrent effect, rather than a personal constitutional right of the party aggrieved." United States v. Calandra, 414 U.S. 338, 348 (1974). The reality is that "[t]he wrong condemned by the [Fourth] Amendment is 'fully accomplished' by the unlawful search or seizure itself." Leon, 468 U.S. at 906. "[T]he governments' [trial] use of evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment does not itself violate  $_{\mathrm{the}}$ Constitution." Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Parole v. Scott, 524 U.S. 357, 362 (1998). Thus, the "sole purpose" of the exclusionary rule is "to deter future Fourth Amendment violations." Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236-37 (2011). "The rule is calculated to prevent, not to repair." Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960).

The use of the exclusionary rule to deter future misconduct exacts "substantial social costs." *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 907. Most obviously, it deprives the fact-finder of

information that may be crucial to the accuracy of the decision-making process, with the result "that some guilty defendants may go free or receive reduced sentences as a result of favorable plea bargains." *Id.* at 907. As Justice Cardozo famously put it: "The criminal is to go free because the constable has blundered." *People v. Defore*, 150 N.E. 585, 587 (N.Y. 1926). In addition to the loss of evidence, "[i]ndiscriminate application of the exclusion rule . . . may well 'generat[e] disrespect for the law and administration of justice." *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 908 (alteration in original) (quoting *Stone v. Powell*, 428 U.S. 465, 491 (1976)).

To mitigate these social costs and rein in the scope of the rule, the Supreme Court has limited the exclusionary rule as a remedial device to those contexts "where its remedial objectives are thought most efficaciously served." Calandra, 414 U.S. at 348. The Court has noted that the exclusion of illegally obtained evidence from a criminal trial "must be assumed to be a substantial and efficient deterrent." United States v. Janis, 428 U.S. 433, 453 (1976). The threat of the rule's extension into additional spheres is unlikely to provide greater deterrence to police misconduct. Id. at 453-54. Any "additional marginal deterrence provided . . . in a civil proceeding surely does not outweigh the cost to society of extending the rule to that situation. If, on the other hand, the exclusionary rule does not result in appreciable deterrence, then, clearly, its use . . . is unwarranted. Under either assumption . . . the extension of the rule is unjustified." Janis, 428 U.S. at 453–54 (footnote omitted).

Accordingly, the Court has generally limited its use to criminal trials and declared it inapplicable in most civil settings. The rule is not available in civil tax proceedings. See Janis, 428 U.S. at 454. It has no effect in civil deportation proceedings. See I.N.S. v. Lopez-Mendoza, 468 U.S. 1032, 1051 (1984). Nor can it be used in an administrative parole revocation proceeding. See Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Parole, 524 U.S. at 364. It is also inapplicable in a grand jury proceeding. See Calandra, 414 U.S. at 351–52.

The Supreme Court of Texas recently held that the exclusionary rule is not applicable in civil forfeiture proceedings. See State v. One 2004 Lincoln Navigator. 494 S.W.3d 690 (Tex. 2016). In *Lincoln Navigator*, the police arrested Miguel Herrera, seized his Lincoln Navigator, and found drugs in the vehicle. The State brought drug charges against Herrera and civil forfeiture proceedings against the vehicle, asserting that it was "contraband" under the forfeiture statute. The trial court found that Herrera's arrest was unlawful, and therefore the search incident to the arrest was also illegal. Id. at 692. Among other consequences, this meant that the vehicle would be excluded from the civilforfeiture proceeding. Id. The Texas Supreme Court granted review to decide "whether an illegal seizure requires exclusion in a . . . civil-forfeiture proceeding." Id. at 692–93. The court held that it does not. Id.

The court noted that civil forfeiture proceedings "frequently arise out of criminal proceedings in which property was seized." *Id.* At the same time, the court observed, such proceedings are *not criminal proceedings*, and the exclusionary rule has generally been confined to *criminal proceedings*. *Id.* at 696. Indeed, as the Texas court pointed out, the United States Supreme Court has "repeatedly declined to extend the exclusionary rule to proceedings other than criminal trials." *Id.* (quoting *Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Parole*, 524 U.S. at 363).

The court asserted that the application of the exclusionary rule to a civil forfeiture case like the one before it would come at a "substantial social cost." *Id.* The Navigator was "indisputably relevant—if the state shows by a preponderance of the evidence that the vehicle was 'used or intended to be used in the commission of a felony under the

Controlled Substances Act, then it is 'contraband." Id. "If it qualifies as contraband [under the statute], then it is subject to seizure and forfeiture." Id. (citations omitted). The evidence of the car was reliable, probative, and trustworthy. Id. In that context, application of the rule would "result in exclusion of evidence central to 'the truth-finding functions of judge and jury." Id. (citation omitted). On the other hand, the deterrence value of excluding the evidence was "marginal at best." Id. The State had already been substantially "punished" by the exclusion of the evidence in the criminal trial. Id. "Given this 'substantial and efficient deterrent', any additional deterrence provided by also applying the rule in the civil-forfeiture context is marginal and 'surely does not outweigh the cost to society of extending the rule to that context." Id. at 697 (citation omitted).

The Texas court distinguished the supreme court's decision in *Plymouth Sedan*, in which the supreme court held that the exclusionary rule does apply to a civil forfeiture case.<sup>2</sup> The Texas court noted that the supreme court had interpreted the civil forfeiture statute at issue in *Plymouth Sedan* as essentially criminal in nature. *Lincoln Navigation*, 494 S.W.3d at 697 (discussing *Plymouth Sedan*, 380 U.S. at 697–98, 700–01). First, the forfeiture statute was triggered only when there was a proven criminal violation. Second, in that particular case, the forfeiture was clearly a "penalty" for the criminal offense, because it could result in a "greater punishment" than a criminal sentence. *Id.* (quoting *Plymouth Sedan*, 380 U.S. at 697–98, 700–01).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State acknowledges that the majority of published cases apply the exclusionary rule to civil forfeiture proceedings, relying on *Plymouth Sedan* as controlling authority. *See*, *e.g.*, *In re* 650 Fifth Ave. & Related Props., 830 F. 3d 66, 98 (2d Cir. 2016).

In contrast, civil forfeitures under the Texas statute "are expressly civil and non-punitive" and "remedial in nature." Lincoln Navigation, 494 S.W.3d at 698. The statute defines as contraband items "used or intended to be used in the commission of" specific crimes. Id. (quoting Tex. Code Crim. Proc. Art. 59.01(2)(B)). "While this provision certainly relates to criminal activity, it does not require any proof that a person committed a crime—it only requires that the state prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the property is contraband. In other words, '[a] . . . civil[-]forfeiture action is an in rem proceeding against contraband,' not a quasicriminal proceeding against a person." Id. (alteration in original) (citation omitted). The Texas court concluded that exclusion of evidence in such a proceeding was unwarranted because it would not yield any substantial deterrence. Id.

In addition to this analysis, the Texas court observed that "the legal and jurisprudential landscapes have changed significantly since *Plymouth Sedan* was decided in 1965, weakening some of the opinion's underpinnings." Lincoln Navigation, 494 S.W.3d at 697–98 (see Pa. Bd. of Prob. & Parole, 524 U.S. at 364; Lopez-Mendoza, 468 U.S. at 1051; Janis, 428 U.S. at 454; Calandra, 414 U.S. at 351-52). In exclusionary rule jurisprudence 1965.was not so "discriminating." Id. at 698 (quoting Davis, 564 U.S. at 237). Since then, the Court has "abandoned the old, 'reflexive' application of the doctrine, and imposed a more rigorous weighing of its costs and deterrence benefits." Id. (quoting Davis, 564 U.S. at 238). "Thus, the Court's more recent jurisprudence, and its now well-established cost-benefit analysis, controls our analysis." Id.

For all these reasons, the Texas court declined to follow *Plymouth Sedan*, and ruled that the exclusionary rule does not apply to civil forfeiture proceedings.

In a concurring opinion in United States v. Marrocco, 578 F.3d 627, 642-43 (7th Cir. 2009), then-Chief Judge Frank Easterbrook similarly questioned the continuing viability of *Plymouth Sedan*. On the one hand, he noted that, although Plymouth Sedan involved a civil forfeiture proceeding, the Janis Court later stated that "that forfeiture was intended as a criminal punishment." Marrocco, 578 F.3d at 642 (Easterbrook, C.J., concurring) (citing Janis, 428 U.S. at 447 n.17). On the other hand, the Supreme Court had subsequently held that the exclusionary rule was not applicable in taxation, deportation, and probation revocation cases. Id. Furthermore, he reasoned, "[s]uppressing the res in a civil proceeding, even though the property is subject to forfeiture, would be like dismissing the indictment in a criminal proceeding whenever the defendant was arrested without probable cause. The Supreme Court has been unwilling to use the exclusionary rule to 'suppress' the body of an improperly arrested defendant. Why then would it be sensible to suppress the res?" Id. (citations omitted).<sup>3</sup>

Wisconsin has never expressly discussed the *Plymouth* Sedan holding, but two early Wisconsin Supreme Court opinions cite the decision in dicta.

In State ex rel. White v. Simpson, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 596, 137 N.W.2d 391 (1965), a paternity action, the court noted that an individual's rights under the Fourth Amendment (and its Wisconsin counterpart) were the same in criminal and civil actions. "The right of an individual to be protected from improper arrests or searches applies with equal vitality to those which stem from civil actions as well as those which stem from criminal actions. The immediate impact on the individual is precisely the same whether the arrest arises

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Then-Chief Judge Easterbrook addressed the exclusionary rule issue in a concurring opinion because it had not been raised by the *Marrocco* parties. *Id.* at 642.

from one type of case or the other. See One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Pennsylvania (1965), 380 U.S. 693." Id. While it noted that individual rights were the same in both types of cases, White said nothing about the remedies available to the individual. Specifically, it did not address Plymouth Sedan's holding that the exclusionary rule applies to civil forfeiture proceedings or any other kind of civil proceeding.

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