### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

**RECEIVED** 10-24-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

No. 2017 AP 1345

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL J. SCOTT, A BLACK 1966 OLDSMOBILE AUTOMOBILE VIN #338676M362750, A BROWN 2015 CHEVROLET SILVERADO VIN #1GC1KWE81FF631314, ALLY FINANCIAL, INC. a/k/a CT CORPORATION SYSTEM, A 2008 POLARIS RANGER SERIAL #4XARB50A482701431, A 2008 SEA DOO "JET SKI" HULL #YDV13580E808, A 2008 SEA DOO "JET SKI" HULL #YDV24947C808, APPROXIMATELY 55 LBS. OF TETRAHYDROCANNABINOLS (THC) AND \$22,955 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY, Defendants, LORI M. SCOTT,

Defendant-Respondent.

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court properly granted the Scotts' motion. Binding precedent guided the court's decision. Judge Vale's order granting summary judgment should be affirmed.

The Circuit Court, having held that two search warrants lacked probable cause, excluded from use at trial all evidence seized from the Scotts' residence. The State did not seek reconsideration, nor did it appeal the ruling. Rather, acknowledging the Circuit Court's decision, the State dismissed the charges against Michael and Lori Scott.

In the forfeiture proceeding the State could not contest that the search and seizure was unlawful. Rather, it took the position that, notwithstanding the uncontested fact that police violated the Scotts' constitutional rights, the evidence unlawfully seized ought be available for use in the forfeiture proceeding. But no Wisconsin case supports its position, and a case from the United States Supreme Court (cited twice by our supreme court) directs the opposite conclusion: the exclusionary rule should apply where evidence of a crime is unlawfully seized and the State seeks to use the very same evidence in support of its efforts to forfeit the property. One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, 380 U.S. 693 (1965); see also State ex rel. White v. Simpson, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 137 N.W.2d 391 (1965); and State v. Voshart, 39 Wis. 2d 419, 159 N.W.2d 1 (1968). The result ought remain the same on these facts even if the Circuit Court engages in a balancing of interests, as the State argues; and, indeed, the Circuit Court in its oral ruling did weigh the competing interests of deterrence before deciding that application of the exclusionary rule was proper.

### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DECIDED SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Controlling legal precedent determined that evidence should be excluded because its collection violated the state and federal

constitutions. After the evidence was excluded, there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute. Where there was only a question of law, summary judgment was properly rendered. *Kenosha County Dept. of Social Services v. Nelsen*, 95 Wis. 2d 409, 413, 290 N.W.2d 544 (Ct. App. 1980). Where the moving party does not have the ultimate burden of persuasion at trial,

[t]he Supreme Court has clearly indicated that, in appropriate cases, a moving party may carry its initial burden of production by showing that the nonmoving party does not have enough evidence to carry its ultimate burden of persuasion at trial.

Nissan Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Fritz Companies, Inc., 210 F.3d 1099, 1106 (9th Cir. 2000), quoting Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 (1986). Thus the ultimate issue in deciding this motion for summary judgment is "whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission to a jury or whether it is so one-sided that one party must prevail as a matter of law. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 251-52 (1986). This is just such a case.

A. United States Supreme Court Precedent Controls: The Exclusionary Rule Applies to Forfeiture Proceedings Where Evidence of a Crime Is Unlawfully Seized and the State Seeks to Use the Very Same Evidence In Support of its Efforts to Forfeit the Property.

On the question of whether the exclusionary rule applies in forfeiture proceedings, a decision of the United States Supreme Court controls. *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania*, 380 U.S. 693 (1965), is directly on point. Wisconsin's Supreme Court has twice referenced this decision, and has never broken from the precedent. *See State ex rel. White v. Simpson*, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 596, 137 N.W.2d 391, 393 (1965); *State v. Voshart*, 39 Wis. 2d 419, 159 N.W.2d 1 (1968).

On federal questions, the determinations of the United States Supreme Court are binding upon state courts. *State v. Mechtel*, 176 Wis. 2d 87,

94, 499 N.W.2d 662 (1993); *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 38, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 742, 604 N.W.2d 517, 525. The Wisconsin Supreme Court's interpretation of the Wisconsin Constitution's search and seizure provision has normally been consistent with the requirements of the United States Constitution as interpreted by the Supreme Court. *Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 55. Indeed, the Wisconsin Supreme Court was one of the first in the nation to adopt the exclusionary rule. *Hoyer v. State*, 180 Wis. 407, 193 N.W. 89 (1923), was decided almost 40 years before *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1961), obliged the court to adopt the exclusionary rule. "This early adoption of the exclusionary rule demonstrates this state's commitment to protecting the privacy of its citizens." *Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 87 (Abrahamson, C.J., dissenting).

The Circuit Court ruled that the unlawfully seized evidence could not be admitted at trial.

Here all of the evidence that was seized as a result of what were the faulty warrants. They weren't saved by a good faith exception. [...] The Texas case notes at some point illegality does not always equate with inadmissibility. Neither does under the circumstances of this case equate that it should be admitted here. I'm also aware of this balancing act. If the intent of this law is to deter wrongful police action, that certainly is the concept in a criminal proceeding, that we want to make sure this is fundamental constitutional rights, Fourth Amendment search and seizure we're going to protect that in personam, folk's individual rights. When it hurts and we know there is criminal activity but it didn't go down the right way that's the remedy, because that remedy is protecting the constitutional rights of all of us even though in a specific application we can say hey, we kind of know what's going on here, but that's the harsh result of the rule. [...] I think for those reasons I feel bound by the *Plymouth* case and that [case] hasn't been rejected anywhere along the line. [...]

For those reasons I will grant the defendants' motion for summary judgment in this case, and I think if the court correctly applies those rules there is no evidence to talk about in the case.

R44:28-30.

Where the evidence was excluded, then the absence of the excluded evidence does not support the continuation of the action: where there is no evidence, there is no genuine issue of material fact.<sup>3</sup>

In One 1958 Plymouth Sedan, 380 U.S. 693 (1965), the Court held that the exclusionary rule, set forth in Weeks v. United States, 232 U.S. 383 (1914), and Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961), which hold that evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment not be used in criminal

Before a court may employ defensive issue preclusion against a nonparty in the prior action, the court must apply the test of "fundamental fairness." This involves a consideration of some, or all, of the following factors: (1) could the party against whom preclusion is sought, as a matter of law, have obtained review of the judgment; (2) is the question one of law that involves two distinct claims or intervening contextual shifts in the law; (3) do significant differences in the quality or extensiveness of proceedings between the two courts warrant relitigation of the issue; (4) have the burdens of persuasion shifted such that the party seeking preclusion had a lower burden of persuasion in the first trial than in the second; or (5) are matters of public policy and individual circumstances involved that would render the application of collateral estoppel to be fundamentally unfair, including inadequate opportunity or incentive to obtain a full and fair adjudication in the initial action?

The five factors demonstrate that the exclusion of evidence could not be relitigated, having been decided by the Circuit Court in the criminal case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Scotts argued that collateral estoppel/issue preclusion applied in the Circuit Court, albeit in passing. R18:9. The test for defensive issue preclusion is set forth in *Jensen v. Milwaukee Mut. Ins. Co.*, 204 Wis. 2d 231, 237–38, 554 N.W.2d 232, 234–35 (Ct. App. 1996) (internal citations omitted):

proceedings applies to quasi-criminal proceedings, like forfeiture proceedings.<sup>4</sup> No Wisconsin case holds otherwise.

One 1958 Plymouth Sedan relied heavily on Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616 (1886), a case in which it was alleged that crates of plate glass were imported without the payment of the proper customs duty. The statute in that case provided a criminal penalty of \$50 to \$5000, up to two years imprisonment, and forfeiture of the goods. The government instituted a civil *in rem* forfeiture action against the imported glass. Addressing the civil nature of the proceeding, the Supreme Court in Boyd explained:

If the government prosecutor elects to waive an indictment, and to file a civil information against the claimants,—that is, civil in form,—can he by this device take from the proceeding its criminal aspect and deprive the claimants of their immunities as citizens, and extort from them a production of their private papers, or, as an alternative, a confession of guilt? This cannot be. The information, though technically a civil proceeding, is in substance and effect a criminal one. [...] As, therefore, suits for penalties and forfeitures, incurred by the commission of offenses against the law, are of this *quasi* criminal nature, we think that they are within the reason

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> One 1958 Plymouth Sedan speaks in general terms, labeling any forfeiture action based upon inherently criminal activity as "quasi-criminal" if its object is to penalize for the commission of an offense against the law. One 1958 Plymouth Sedan, 380 U.S. at 700. Forfeiture statutes are quasi-criminal because they are both punitive and criminal in nature. For one, the statutes are found in the criminal code (CH. 961). And these forfeiture statutes target criminal activity because they are primarily designed to confiscate property used in violation of the law, and to require disgorgement of the fruits of illegal conduct. The statutes illustrate that assets are forfeitable only because of some underlying criminal activity, not because a particular asset poses an inherent danger to the public that would be against the state's regulatory interest. Under this analysis, civil forfeiture statutes are quasi-criminal because they are intended to punish criminal conduct and supplement general criminal aims by attacking the economics behind crime.

of criminal proceedings for all the purposes of the fourth amendment of the constitution. . . .

Id. at 633-34, quoted in One 1958 Plymouth Sedan, 380 U.S. at 697-98.

One 1958 Plymouth Sedan made clear that, although Boyd involved evidence sought by subpoena, that factual difference was irrelevant because "the essential question is whether evidence[,] ... the obtaining of which violates the Fourth Amendment may be relied upon to sustain a forfeiture." 380 U.S. at 698. Going on to explain its holding, the Court reasoned that "[t]here is nothing even remotely criminal in possessing an automobile. It is only the alleged use to which this particular automobile was put that subjects Mr. McGonigle to its possible loss." *Id.* at 699. Additionally, "a forfeiture proceeding is quasi-criminal in character. Its object, like a criminal proceeding, is to penalize for the commission of an offense against the law." *Id.* at 700. "[W]e conclude that the nature of a forfeiture proceeding, so well described . . . in *Boyd*, and the reasons which led the Court to hold that the exclusionary rule . . . is obligatory upon the States under the Fourteenth Amendment . . . in *Mapp*, support the conclusion that the exclusionary rule is applicable to forfeiture proceedings such as the one involved here." Id. at 702.

Reference by our supreme court to One 1958 Plymouth Sedan is telling.

Neither the Fourth Amendment to the United States constitution nor sec. 11, art. I of the Wisconsin constitution distinguishes between civil and criminal cases as far as the issuance of warrants is concerned; we perceive no distinction. The right of an individual to be protected from improper arrests or searches applies with equal vitality to those which stem from civil actions as well as those which stem from criminal actions. The immediate impact on the individual is precisely the same whether the arrest arises from one type of case or the other.

State ex rel. White v. Simpson, 28 Wis. 2d 590, 596, 137 N.W.2d 391, 393 (1965) (emphasis added); see also State v. Voshart, 39 Wis. 2d 419, 435, 159 N.W.2d 1 (1968) ("In a leading case in this field of law, the United States Supreme Court held that an automobile, even though used in the commission of a crime, could not be confiscated"). Any claim that Wisconsin does not follow *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan* is misplaced.

# B. The Exclusionary Rule Should Apply In Forfeiture Cases Such as This.

The Fourth Amendment is not limited by its language or its history to the context of criminal trials. Its goal is to ensure freedom from unreasonable governmental searches and seizures of any nature. The exclusionary rule remedies certain violations of the Fourth Amendment, but is not coextensive with it. Although the purpose of the exclusionary rule may be to curb improper police conduct, the purpose of the Fourth Amendment is to protect "the right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures. . . ." Amend. IV, United States Constitution; and Art. I, § 11 Wis. Constitution. It protects everybody, not just those of the criminal milieu, and, thus, is not limited to criminal proceedings. *Austin v. United States*, 509 U.S. 602, 608 n.4 (1993).

The Supreme Court in *Austin* noted that the Fourth Amendment's provisions were not limited to criminal proceedings, but, that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> White involved an arrest warrant issued in a paternity action, a civil special proceeding, which lead to the arrest of the defendant. Citing *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan*, our Supreme Court stated that "Neither the Fourth Amendment to the United States constitution nor sec. 11, art. I of the Wisconsin constitution distinguishes between civil and criminal cases as far as the issuance of warrants is concerned; we perceive no distinction." *State ex rel. White v. Simpson*, 28 Wis. 2d at 596–97. *Voshart* involved the disposition of contraband (various items of hard-core pornography) after criminal charges were dismissed following the trial court's finding the search warrant to be invalid and ordering the evidence suppressed. Citing to *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan*, the court noted "Obviously, there are limits to what a state may declare to be contraband." *State v. Voshart*, 39 Wis. 2d 419, 434 n.31, 159 N.W.2d 1, 9 (1968). The nature of the property at issue in *Voshart* differs greatly from the personal property that is at issue in this case.

Confrontation Clause, the due process "reasonable doubt" standard, double jeopardy, and self-incrimination provisions were so limited. The Court thus distinguished the applicability of these various provisions, squarely refusing to limit the Fourth Amendment's provisions to criminal cases, relying on *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan* and *Boyd. Id.* The Court thus clearly implied in *Austin* that, although the exclusionary rule is a judicially created remedy intended to apply primarily to criminal and "quasi-criminal" proceedings, the Fourth Amendment applies to *all* "unreasonable searches and seizures" by the government, regardless of context. *See United States v. James Daniel Good Real Property*, 510 U.S. 43, 51 (1993) ("It is true, of course, that the Fourth Amendment applies to searches and seizures in the civil context and may serve to resolve the legality of these governmental actions without reference to other constitutional provisions.").

# C. The Rule of One 1958 Plymouth Sedan is Widely Followed And Remains Good Law.

The rule of *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan* is clear and widely accepted. One court counted 34 states and 11 federal circuit courts that follow the rule of *One 1959 Plymouth Sedan*. *One 1995 Corvette VIN No. 1G1YY22P585103433 v. Mayor and City Council of Baltimore*, 353 Md. 114, 123, 724 A.2d 680, 684-85 (1999). As recently as 1994, the Supreme Court cited *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan* as authority for the proposition that the exclusionary rule applies to civil forfeiture proceedings. *United States v. James Daniel Good Real Property*, 510 U.S. 43, 49 (1993) ("The Fourth Amendment does place restrictions on seizures conducted for purposes of civil forfeiture, *One 1958 Plymouth Sedan v. Pennsylvania*, 380 U.S. 693, 696 (1965) (holding that the exclusionary rule applies to civil forfeiture), but it does not follow that the Fourth Amendment is the sole constitutional provision in question when the Government seizes property subject to forfeiture")).

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